ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

AUG 31 2018

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2017-000881

Eugene A. Gardner, III,

Respondent,

v.

State of South Carolina,

Petitioner.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.
S.C. Bar No. 101260
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

CERTIORARI TO DARLINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Eugene A. Gardner, III, (Gardner) is confined in the South Carolina Department of Corrections pursuant to orders of commitment of the Darlington County Clerk of Court. Gardner was indicted at the February 2013 term of the Darlington County Grand Jury for murder (2013-GS-16-00452). Julie Rochester, Esq. (Rochester)¹ and J. Richard Jones, Esq. (Jones) represented Gardner at trial. Patti M. Parker, Esq., and John W. Holt, IV, Esq., each of the Fourth Circuit Solicitor's Office, prosecuted the case.

On December 2, 2013, Gardner proceeded to trial before the Honorable J. Michael Baxley and a jury. On December 3, 2013, after pre-trial motions, opening statements, and the testimony of the first witness, Gardner pled guilty to the lesser-included offense of voluntary manslaughter. Judge Baxley sentenced Gardner to imprisonment for a term of 20 years. Gardner did not appeal his plea or sentence.

Gardner filed his application for post-conviction relief on August 12, 2014 (2014-CP-16-00672). He alleged the following grounds for relief in his application:

1. "Applicant was denied the right to effective assistance of counsel [. . .] during the preparation phase of his trial."
 - a. "Trial Counsel's performance during the preparation phase of trial was both unreasonable and prejudicial"
 - i. "The defendant has a history of transient ischemic attacks (TIA's)."
 - ii. "The county psychological nurse's statement, 'I know you would not hurt anyone, your actions were normal (panic, scared, confusion) you didn't handle the situation right – your brother had just died in front of you – you were in 'shock.'"
 - iii. "Counsel told the defendant she was arranging an appointment with a neurologist, which was never done."

¹ The trial transcript indicates attorney Rochester as "Julie Wooten." The transcript of the PCR hearing indicates attorney Rochester as "Julie Swilley"

- iv. “The defendant was actually on sick leave for the 2 weeks prior to the accident.”
 - b. “Loud v. Whitney, 977 F.2d 149, 156 (5th Cir. 1992) (citing Strickland v. Washington supra).”
 - i. “The defendant and his brother had never been in a physical altercation.”
 - c. “Tisdale v. State, 662 S.E.2d 514 (S.C. 2008) – Counsel found ineffective in murder case for failing to request charges of involuntary manslaughter and accident.”
- 2. “Applicant was denied the right to effective assistance of counsel. . . during the guilt-innocence phase of his trial.”
 - a. “Supporting facts: trial counsel’s performance during the questioning of the trial was both unreasonable and prejudicial.”
- 3. “Applicant was denied the right to effective assistance of counsel during the preparation phase of trial.”
 - a. “Counsel allowed Darlington County Corrections Officer, Purvis, to sit in and assist with defendant’s trial preparations and discussions.”
- 4. “Applicant was denied the right to effective assistance by counsel during the guilt-innocence phase of trial was both unreasonable and prejudicial.”
 - a. “Supporting facts: Trial counsel’s performance during the guilt-innocence phase of trial was both unreasonable and prejudicial.”
 - i. “Counsel allowed a court officer (Scott B. Suggs – clerk of court), who had summoned the defendant into a room in the courtroom to discuss his case, advise counsel and the defendant.”
 - ii. “There were 2 witnesses that heard a shot between 3:00-3:30 PM and Hardee (coroner) said Todd Gardner dies at the same time.”
 - iii. “The defendant never had any intention of a plea at all – he has said over and over ‘I know I made a mistake by not calling for help. I was scared out of my mind but I am innocent, I would never hurt my brother. We talked every day; sometimes 3 times. He was coming to live with us after I got dad settled. I loved my brother.”
 - iv. “The defendant asked counsel ‘when will we go over the details of my case?’ She said ‘during trial.’”
- 5. “Applicant was denied the right to effective assistance of counsel during the guilt-innocence phase of his trial.”
 - a. “Supporting facts: Trial counsel’s performance during the preparation phase of trial was both unreasonable and prejudicial.”
 - i. “After clerk of court had left and counsel was discussing, again the room was chaos.”

- ii. “Counsel did not represent her client in a just and processional way.”
- 6. “Counsel failed to communicate with and effectively represent Applicant.”
- 7. “Applicant denied opportunity to fully discuss plea offers with counsel.”
- 8. “Counsel failed to object to lack of factual basis for guilty plea.”

Petitioner made its return on June 11, 2015, and an evidentiary hearing into the matter was convened on January 10, 2017, before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Jr. Gardner was present at the hearing and represented by Lance S. Boozer, Esq. Valerie Garcia Giovanoli, Esq., of the South Carolina Attorney General’s Office, represented Petitioner. By written order dated February 17, 2017, and filed February 24, 2017, Judge Cooper granted the application, vacated the conviction and sentence, and directed a new trial.

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gardner was indicted for the shooting murder of his brother, Richard "Todd" Gardner (Victim) on or about June 21, 2011. (Appx. 368-69). Gardner proceeded to trial and, after jury selection, Rochester moved to suppress Gardner's statement given to law enforcement. (Appx. 46, ll. 21-24). Rochester argued that because of a 15 hour lapse between Gardner's arrest and his interview and alleged "threats" made by law enforcement, his statement was not voluntary. (Appx. 47, ll. 16-25). Investigator Mark Luce testified *in camera* that he was assigned to work Gardner's murder case. (Appx. 50, ll. 11-12). Luce arrested Gardner in North Carolina where he then took Gardner to the Ashe County Jail and recorded a statement. (Appx. 50, ll. 13-21).

Luce enlisted the help of the U.S. Marshals Service and North Carolina Law Enforcement in arresting Gardner. (Appx. 58, ll. 1-6). Luce and Sergeant Brandon Peavy left Darlington early in the morning and arrived in North Carolina at "9:30 or so." (Appx. 58, ll. 7-9). Luce obtained a search warrant to search Gardner's home and finished the search at about 11:30 am. (Appx. 58, ll. 13-18). Luce then secured a search warrant for Gardner's vehicle which took until about 4:00 P.M. (Appx. 58, ll. 19-22). While searching Gardner's vehicle, Gardner called his home from jail and was overheard by jail personnel telling the person on the other end of the phone to make sure the police did not find the blue bag and to hide the blue bag behind the chimney. (Appx. 58-59). After a few hours of effort, Luce obtained a second search warrant to locate the blue bag and agents on scene executed it. (Appx. p. 59, ll. 4-22). As indicated by Gardner's overheard conversation, the stolen gun was found in a blue bag behind the chimney. (Appx. 59-60).

Unable to keep a phone signal, Luce drove an hour to Gardner's home, learned of the discovery, and then an hour back to the jail in which Gardner was detained, arriving at the

detention center just after midnight. (Appx. 59-61). Luce recorded an interview of Gardner starting around 12:30 A.M., as Luce was concerned there would be conversation during the long ride back to South Carolina in the morning. (Appx. p. 60-62). During the video interview, Gardner first told Luce he did not know where the gun was, but eventually told Luce where he had hidden the gun. (Appx. 63-64).

On cross-examination, Luce testified he had suspicions Gardner's wife was involved in the murder. (Appx. 64, ll. 20-23). Luce admitted he told Gardner during the interview that he may have to put more people in jail, referring to Gardner's friends and family members that may have been involved in the murder. (Appx. 65, ll. 6-13). Luce explained to Gardner that if anyone helped cover up the crime, they would be guilty of accessory after the fact. (Appx. 65, ll. 16-19). Upon questioning by Rochester about certain remarks made during Gardner's interview, Luce clarified that none of his statements were veiled threats to lock up Gardner's wife and daughter. (Appx. 65-66).

Officer Josh Hodges also testified *in camera*. (Appx 75-80). Hodges was sitting next to Gardner on a bench while Gardner was on the telephone call and overheard Gardner aggressively saying, "just do it, put it in the chimney or something" and "they can't find the blue bag." (Appx. 76, ll. 13-22). After arguments from both parties, Judge Baxley found Gardner's statement was voluntary and admissible. (Appx. 81-94).

Rochester then moved to suppress the murder weapon. (Appx. p. 95-100). The State explained how the second search warrant was obtained and how, when it was executed, the gun was found where they suspected, behind paneling that had been pulled out of the side of the fireplace in a hidden area. (Appx. 100-03). Judge Baxley again denied Gardner's motion to suppress. (Appx. 112-14). Rochester thereafter confirmed there would be no objection to *three*

other video recorded statements made by Gardner to law enforcement being admitted at trial. (Appx. 114-15).

Trial proceeded to opening statements the following day. In the State's opening argument, reference was made to the volume of evidence the State was prepared to present. Gardner's brother was found dead in his home with a gunshot wound to the *back* of the head. There was no sign of forced entry to the victim's home. Gardner denied even being in the county, but cell phone records showed he was in Darlington County the day before and the day of his brother's murder. Gardner gave four statements to law enforcement over the course of a nine month investigation. The statements changed as law enforcement confronted him with ever more damning evidence, culminating in a confession that Gardner shot his brother "by accident." (Appx. 130-40).

Victim was shot with his own 9 mm handgun. Gardner had reported the firearm missing. As mentioned above, the gun was later found in a hidden compartment behind a chimney in Gardner's residence, after Gardner was overheard on the phone post-arrest telling someone to hide it and make sure it is not found. The State intended to prove Gardner's motive for killing his brother was greed.² Prior to his murder, Victim was the care taker of his and Gardner's father. Victim lived with their father, took care of him, and his name was on their father's checking account. After Victim's murder, Gardner secured power of attorney to access his father's money and rapidly spent in excess of \$125,000 over four months. (Appx. 130-40; Appx. 194-95).

² After the victim's death, Gardner received a power of attorney that gave him authority over his father's finances – authority the victim had before his death. The State was prepared to introduce bank records, through a Wells Fargo records custodian, to show an amount spent exceeding \$125,000 in a span of approximately four months. The State also had evidence that Gardner continued the spending even after his father's death and cashed in one of his annuities using the power of attorney. (App. p. 194, l. 5 – p. 195, l. 15).

Victim's ex-wife, Susan Gardner Davis, testified first. Davis and Victim had lived on family land near Gardner and their parents. (Appx. 145-46). Davis testified the relationship between Victim and Gardner was "very up and down." (Appx. 146, l. 10). Shortly after she married Victim, they purchased a 9 mm Ruger gun, and Victim kept the gun after their divorce. (Appx. 151-52). Davis discovered Victim after he had been shot to death in the restaurant-apartment where he lived with his father. (Appx. 155, ll. 1 – 10; Appx. 162, ll. 17-24). Davis testified that when she arrived at the scene of the shooting, both the front and back doors were locked. (Appx. 159-60). The following day, Gardner asked for a key to the restaurant to see if anything was missing. (Appx. 156-57).

Following the murder, Gardner persistently tried to spend time with Davis' children, specifically her son. (Appx. 157-58). Two weeks after the murder, Gardner asked for Davis' children's social security numbers and claimed they could probably get a lot more than she ever got from Victim. (Appx. 158, ll. 17-24).

Davis informed law enforcement that Victim suffered from bouts of depression, but, she did not say when he had bouts of depression in her statement. (Appx. 167-68; Appx. 174-76). Davis testified the depression had subsided six to eight months before his murder. (App. p. 176, ll. 5 – 8).

SUGGS' CONVERSATION AND GUILTY PLEA

The Court briefly recessed following Davis' testimony. (Appx. 176, ll. 19-21). The Honorable Scott B. Suggs, Clerk of Court for Darlington County, felt the jury would definitely convict Gardner of murder and Judge Baxley would sentence Gardner to life in prison. (Appx. 295-96). Suggs recalled speaking with Gardner's wife, daughter, and ex-sister-in-law, and reported they would be fine without a trial and only wanted Gardner to admit his guilt. (Appx.

296, ll. 6-13). Suggs felt sorry for Gardner and considered him a friend because of their lifelong history of playing sports together, as well as frequent cookouts, card games, and other social gatherings. (Appx. 294, ll. 11-22; Appx. 296, ll. 13-19). Suggs noted with concern that Judge Baxley indicated³ his inclination to sentence Gardner to life imprisonment if convicted, and expressed he did not wish for that outcome. (Appx. 296-97). Suggs recalled communicating Gardner's family's indifference to sentencing to Judge Baxley. (Appx. 297, ll. 15-21). Suggs testified he was trying to work out a deal for Gardner with the Solicitor, the family and the judge to accept. (Appx. 305, ll. 4-8).

Suggs spoke to Gardner alone in a room⁴ behind the courtroom during the brief recess after Davis' testimony, cited to his experience in watching hundreds of trials in Darlington, and told Gardner:

And I went and told him I said, Tripp based upon what is in front of you whether you meant to do it, didn't mean to do it, it was an accident, whatever happened, all the evidence stacks up against you. It's unfortunate. It's just you find yourself in a very bad position that the evidence is totally against you. There's no way twelve (12) people is going to sit in that room back there, listen to that testimony and then say you go free son, you're free, just go ahead go about your business on your everyday life. That wasn't going to happen. Anybody that's been involved in court knows that.

[. . .]

I think I told him, probably, if I was in his situation knowing that I was going to be sitting, potentially, sitting in prison for the rest of my life or I have the option of whatever the judge may do fifteen (15), twenty (20), twenty-five (25) years you're going to serve eighty-five percent (85%) of that. He had already been in jail for however long the record said he was, two and a half, three years, he's

³ This isn't reflected anywhere on the trial record and thus presumably occurred in chambers.

⁴ The witnesses differ on precisely how Suggs and Gardner came to be in the room together. Gardner testified Suggs summoned him to the back during the recess. (Appx. 262, ll. 6-9). Suggs could not recall details but roughly indicated Gardner was already in the back when he went to him, as Suggs had been talking to the family. (Appx. 298, ll. 3-5). Gardner was definitely still in custody, as he never availed himself of bond.

already that far into it. And the fact, as I said, all the evidence in the case whether it's circumstantial evidence, factual evidence, is just not in his favor. Everything stacked up against him.

(Appx. 297, ll. 1-11; Appx. 299, ll. 15-25; Appx. 300-01). Suggs asserted he spoke to Gardner as a friend, not in his professional capacity as Clerk of Court, and that he does not typically intercede in trials. (Appx. 300-01).

While Suggs spoke to Gardner, Rochester sought to speak with her client before returning to the courtroom only to be informed by the transport guard that Gardner was not in the holding cell, but rather was in the adjacent room speaking with Suggs. (Appx. 321, ll. 9-20). Rochester demanded to know why anybody was permitted to speak to her client but received no answer. (Appx. 322, ll. 1-5). Rochester entered the room and found Suggs, who paid her little attention, telling her worried-looking client "that as a friend" that Gardner should plead guilty. (Appx. 322, ll. 8-16). Suggs at some point departed the room, permitting Rochester a private conference⁵ with her client. (Appx. 322-23). Gardner told Rochester that Suggs advised taking a plea, to which Rochester responded that "it was [Gardner's] choice as to what he wanted to do." (Appx. 323, ll. 12-16). Gardner remained unsure of whether to proceed and Rochester told him she would inquire about what deal could be had, and departed to speak to the solicitor. (Appx. 323, ll. 18-21).

Rochester spoke to Gardner's daughter, Taylor Baker, and informed her Gardner was considering a plea but that Rochester was uncertain if he would take the offer. (Appx. 309, ll. 6-14; Appx. 325, ll. 6-8). Baker requested to speak with Gardner, to which Rochester consented, acknowledging Gardner's love for his daughter. (Appx. 309, ll. 14-15; Appx. 325, ll. 9-10).

⁵ The witnesses differ as to whether attorney Jones was also present and at what times. (Appx. 311, ll. 11-18; Appx. 323, ll. 2-10; Appx. 342, ll. 19-22).

Rochester asked Gardner if he wished to see his daughter; he said yes, and a distraught Baker entered the room and advised Gardner to take a plea offer. (Appx. 309-10; 325-26). Baker told Gardner “if he did not take the plea that he would never be able to see [Baker] get married. He would never be able to meet his grandchildren and things like that[. . .] I told him if you don’t do this I don’t think you’re ever going to be able to be a part of my life again as far as weddings, and children, and birthday parties, and family functions, and things like that.” (Appx. 309, ll. 20-25; Appx. 312, ll. 15-18). Gardner interrupted Baker’s entreaties and asked Rochester “so you want me to go out there and lie?” (Appx. 311, ll. 20-24; Appx. 326, ll. 12-14). Rochester told him she never wanted him to lie, to always tell the truth, but that an Alford plea would not be accepted and that Gardner would have to admit to killing his brother. (Appx. 326-27; contra Appx. 267, ll. 1-6; Appx. 286, ll. 20-22; Appx. 312, ll. 18-20).⁶ At the evidentiary hearing, Gardner claimed Rochester wrote instructions on a yellow pad to just follow her lead through the plea proceeding, but Rochester denied doing so. (Appx. 269, ll. 4-8; Appx. 327, ll. 2-4).

Court reconvened, Gardner changed his plea to guilty, and a colloquy ensued between Judge Baxley, Gardner, the attorneys, and the victims. When Rochester was asked whether she had discussed the elements and penalties of the charges and the right to a jury trial with Gardner, she replied, “numerous times, Your Honor, and we are ready and prepared to proceed in trial if that was his option.” (Appx. 179, ll. 6-14). Counsel confirmed she believed it was in Gardner’s best interest to enter a guilty plea to voluntary manslaughter. (Appx. 180, ll. 5-7).

⁶ The PCR Court did not find any one recollection of the outburst more accurate than any other, but instead found all of the witnesses credible and that Rochester “should have been aware that [Gardner] intended to falsely testify when he inquired whether he should like to the court prior to the plea.” (Appx. 354-55).

Gardner was then examined by the judge to confirm his decision to enter his guilty plea was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. Specifically, the judge asked Gardner if he was admitting that he killed his brother in the sudden heat of passion to which applicant responded, "yes, sir." (Appx. 180, ll. 16-21). Judge Baxley asked why Gardner had a change of heart in the middle of trial, to which Gardner answered, "I didn't mean for any of this to happen. [...] And I don't want my family going through this anymore, both sides." (Appx. 181-82). Gardner also testified he believed a guilty plea was in his best interest. (Appx. 182, ll. 10-13). Gardner testified it was his decision to plead guilty, not someone else's. (Appx. 184-85). After a colloquy about Gardner's waiver of his rights, the following exchange occurred between Judge Baxley and Gardner:

Q. All right, sir. Has anyone tried to force you to do this?

A. No, sir.

Q. So you're telling me that, based on where you find yourself, you've made this decision yourself voluntarily to enter this guilty plea[?]

A. Yes, sir.

Q. Are you satisfied with Ms. Wooten and Mr. Jones's services?

A. Very much so.

Q. Do you think they've done a good job for you?

A. Yes, sir, I really do.

Q. Do you have any complaints at all about the way they've represented you?

A. No, sir.

Q. Do you feel that anyone has coerced you this morning in coming forward to enter this decision?

A. No, sir.

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