STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED
JAN 03 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to Supreme Court County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

EUGENE AUSTIN GARDNER, III,

RESPONDENT,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

PETITIONER.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2017-000881

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DAVID ALEXANDER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

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

Rochester recalled Gardner asking if he should lie. She told him that Judge Baxley was not amenable to an Alford plea but that the State was offering voluntary manslaughter. Thus, she advised Gardner that he should not lie, but “you do have to say that you killed him not murdered him if you want [the plea] to be accepted.” App. 326, l. 12 – 327, l. 11; App. 336, ll. 13-18.

Rick Jones was one of the more experienced attorneys in the Fourth Circuit Public Defender’s Office at the time of Gardner’s trial and assisted Rochester as the case got closer to trial. App. 340, l. 14 – 341, l. 11. Jones followed Rochester into the room where they found Suggs talking to Gardner, after which he was “in and out” trying to coordinate a plea offer. App. 342, l. 11-25. He did not recall overhearing any of the conversation between Suggs and Gardner and said that Rochester was taking the lead. App. 343, ll. 4-22; App. 344, ll. 11-17. Jones got the impression from Suggs that he knew Gardner “very, very well” and they “grew up together.” App. 344, ll. 18-23. In the time leading up to and during the trial, Jones said, “[I]t was always our understanding he wouldn’t plead guilty to anything. He wanted a trial.” App. 344, ll. 3-10.

The PCR Court’s Order

The PCR court granted relief on two grounds – that the guilty plea was not entered voluntarily and that plea counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel in failing to inform the plea court of the circumstances leading up to the plea. App. 354 – 355. The PCR court found that “[t]he facts and testimony involving this PCR application are unique.” App. 354. Gardner and his plea counsel testified that Gardner was intent on exercising his right to trial. He rejected multiple plea offers and was in the second day of trial when the meeting occurred with Suggs. App. 354. The court found:

It is uncontroverted that Mr. Suggs met with the Applicant during the trial recess, expressed his opinion as to the outcome of the case and strongly advised Applicant to plead guilty. It is further undisputed that had this meeting not occurred, Applicant would have proceeded with the trial and would not have pled

guilty. Although this Court believes Mr. Suggs had nothing but good intentions in advising the Applicant to plead guilty, this Court finds the discussion, and setting in which it occurred, to be quite influential over the Applicant's decision on whether to continue to exercise his constitutional right to a jury trial. The Applicant was represented by counsel and should not have been subjected to outside influence from any source whatsoever regarding his trial or related decisions. This Court finds that this meeting between the Applicant and Mr. Suggs rendered his guilty plea involuntary.

App. 354 – 355. The PCR court noted that it was “not concerned with the existence or nonexistence of any social relationship between Mr. Suggs and the Applicant or Mr. Suggs' official position as Clerk of Court but rather that this type of discussion and advice should only occur between a defendant and counsel or at counsel's request and in her presence.” App. 355, n. 1.

Regarding ineffective assistance of counsel, the PCR court further found that Gardner was not truthful in his responses to the plea court and that plea counsel should have been aware that Applicant intended to falsely testify when he inquired whether he should lie to the court prior to the plea. App. 355. The court found that plea counsel should have made the plea court aware of the circumstances leading to the plea and/or requested that the Applicant be allowed to withdraw his plea. App. 355. Accordingly, the court found that plea counsel was ineffective and that her ineffectiveness prejudiced Gardner. App. 355. The court denied the State's motion to alter or amend. App. 356; App. 364; App. 365.

Discussion

The State agrees that intervention by court staff in plea negotiations is improper, but argues the law provides no remedy for a criminal defendant whose plea is coerced as a result. The State agrees court staff should be “firmly admonished” if this Court renders a published decision. Br. Pet. at 22. However, the preceding pages of the State's brief argue that other than

an admonishment—which necessarily implies court staff acted improperly—no other action is required to redress the wrong in this case. Br. Pet. at 19-22.

The legal concept avoided by the State in its argument is improper coercion of a guilty plea, which is what the PCR court necessarily found rendered Gardner’s plea involuntary. In 1994, this Court described a series of cases in the late 1970s and early 1980s as setting “strict limits upon the trial judge’s involvement in any negotiations leading to such a plea.” State v. Thrift, 312 S.C. 282, 295, 440 S.E.2d 341, 348-49 (1994). These cases begin with State v. Cross, 270 S.C. 44, 240 S.E.2d 514 (1977), which is a coercion case. In Cross, the judge told the solicitor and the defendant’s attorney that if the defendant pled guilty, he would sentence the defendant to a fine, but no imprisonment. Cross at 47, 240 S.E.2d at 516. However, if the defendant exercised his right to a jury trial and was convicted, the judge would sentence the defendant to imprisonment. Id. The defendant then pled guilty and the Cross Court found the actions of the judge “unduly coerced” the defendant and reversed. Id. at 50, 240 S.E.2d at 517.

In Cross, the Court favorably cited Rule 11 of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure which prohibited judges from participating in plea negotiations.³ Id. at 48, 240 S.E.2d at 516. One year after Cross, the Court decided Beaver v. State, 271 S.C. 381, 247 S.E.2d 448 (1978), and again reversed a guilty plea because of coercive statements by a trial judge. The timing of the guilty plea in Beaver is similar to the current case. The defendant began his trial on the charge of assault with intent to ravish. Beaver at 382-83, 247 S.E.2d at 448-49. After an overnight recess, the trial judge told defense counsel that if the defendant continued with the trial and refused to plead guilty, he would impose the maximum forty-year sentence. Id. The defendant “within the hour” entered a guilty plea and received a fifteen-year sentence. Id.

³ The current federal rule retains this blanket prohibition. Fed. R. Crim. P. 11(c)(1) (“The court must not participate in these discussions.”).

Three years later, the Court decided Harden v. State, 276 S.C. 249, 277 S.E.2d 692 (1981) and Medlin v. State, 276 S.C. 540, 280 S.E.2d 648 (1981). In Harden and Medlin, the Court decided against imposing the federal rule's complete ban on judges' involvement in plea negotiations, but adopted the ABA's Standard 14-3.3. Id. However, both Harden and Medlin remain very concerned with the prospect of judicial coercion and the ABA's standard contains the rule that "the judge should never through word or demeanor, either directly or indirectly, communicate to the defendant or defense counsel that a plea agreement should be accepted or that a guilty plea should be entered." Harden at 255, 277 S.E.2d at 694-95; Medlin at 542, 280 S.E.2d at 649. In both cases, the Court reviewed the record and found no evidence of coercion by the trial judges. Id. In 1994, when the Court returned to this subject in Thrift, the Court specifically added a requirement that all disclosures of plea agreements be on the record. Thrift at 295-96, 440 S.E.2d at 348-49.

The federal courts retain the prohibition on judges' participation in plea negotiations, but review violations of the rule to determine whether any error was prejudicial. United States v. Davila, 569 U.S. 597, 610-12 (2013). In Davila, a magistrate judge repeatedly violated the federal rule and advised the defendant to plead guilty, but the Supreme Court found the defendant was not coerced and he flagrantly attempted to manipulate the courts with his plea and subsequent request to withdraw it. Id. The Court pointed out the three-month delay between the magistrate judge's violation of the rule and the defendant's guilty plea before the district judge as an important factor. Id.

In this case, the coercion emanates from a judicial officer who was not the judge. The Seventh Circuit dealt with such a problem in United States v. Kraus, 137 F.3d 447 (1998) as if the coercion came from the judge. In Kraus, the district judge rejected a proposed plea

agreement in open court and, according to the Seventh Circuit, tread too closely to the line prohibiting her from involving herself in plea negotiations. Kraus, 137 F.3d at 449-50, 454-55. The district judge told the parties that she believed the sentencing range of 121 months was too low. Id. The parties left the hearing and continued negotiating. Id.

Unfortunately for the district judge, and unbeknownst to her, the “room clerk” told the prosecutor during a telephone call that she believed the parties’ proposed new sentence of 151 months had “credence,” but advised “that there was no guarantee as to what the court would do.” Id. at 450-51. The prosecutor told this to the defense attorney who then told his client that a third party connected to the court said the judge would not accept a cap of less than 151 months. Id. at 451. After pleading guilty, the defendant appealed on the basis that his plea had been “tainted.” Id. at 451-52.

On appeal, the Seventh Circuit analyzed both the judge’s comments and the clerk’s comments under the federal rule for harmless error and reversed. Id. at 456-58. The clerk’s comments were the decisive factor in the court’s decision to reverse. Id. The court wrote, “Judicial employees, whether they be law clerks, secretaries, or courtroom deputy clerks, enjoy access to a judge’s innermost thoughts; they consequently bear a duty of loyalty and confidentiality that precludes them from opining how the judge will rule.” Id. at 456.

The conflicts and missteps of a judge’s staff are not lightly imputed to the judge herself. We reiterate that there is no evidence that the district judge herself was even aware of, let alone endorsed, the room clerk’s remark that the 151-month cap had “credence.” On the contrary, the clerk to her credit admonished the prosecutor that she could not predict what the judge would have to say about that new cap. Nor do we for a moment think that the clerk’s own opinion as to the new cap had any impact upon the judge’s subsequent evaluation and approval of the plea agreement. **Even so, coming from an employee of the court who occupies a position of enormous trust, any opinion voiced by the clerk was bound to carry far greater weight than the opinion of a mere bystander. Accurately or not, a party and its counsel are quite likely to perceive that the**

clerk's opinion as to a matter pending before the court is founded in some measure on the clerk's knowledge of and insight into the judge's thoughts. Had she lacked the status of an "insider," the clerk's thoughts as to the "credence" of the new sentencing cap would not have merited disclosure to defense counsel and again to the defendant.

Id. at 456, n.9 (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

The Seventh Circuit properly focused its inquiry on the perception of the defendant and his reaction to the clerk's statement. Id. at 456-57. The court said that had the judge made the same remark the clerk made, it would have undoubtedly been improper. Id. "From the defendant's point of view, however, there is little practical difference." Id. "A court and an attorney can appreciate the distinction, but the undisputed facts suggest that it appeared to Kraus (and for that matter, to his attorney), that the court itself had given its blessing to the 151-month proposal." Id. "We cannot say with any degree of confidence that Kraus' perception was unreasonable." Id. at 457.

In Gardner's case, the comments by Suggs are far more serious and extensive than the comment by the clerk about "credence" in Kraus. Suggs was not a "room clerk." He was the elected Clerk of Court with twenty years of experience who knew everyone in the small town. App. 293, l. 23 – 294, l. 5. App. 261, l. 20 – 265, l. 1. He told Gardner he had seen over five hundred trials, the trial was not going well, that he could get life, and that he needed to plead guilty. App. 261, l. 20 – 265, l. 1. Suggs told Gardner that "all the evidence stacks up against you." App. 296, l. 6 – 297, l. 25. Also unlike Kraus, Suggs was in communication with the trial judge and relayed information to the judge about the parties' discussions. App. 296, l. 6 – 297, l. 25. If the clerk in Kraus's mention of "credence" led to a plea being involuntary, the egregious intervention by Suggs in this case can be nothing less than coercion.

The State principally relies on a case from Montana, Duffy v. State, 120 P.3d 398 (Mont. 2005). Duffy has little relevance to the current case because the defendant had already pled guilty before hearing the improper remark from the clerk. Duffy, 120 P.3d at 399-401. The clerk made the remark after the plea and before the defendant signed a waiver of rights. Id. The Montana court examined the case for coercion and found none. Id. The court reasoned, “The clerk did not induce or coerce Duffy into pleading guilty. The District Court found, and we agree, that Judge Egeland had explained the contents of the waiver before Duffy entered his guilty plea.” Id. at 401. The court then condemned the clerk’s actions. Id. Unlike the defendant in Duffy who had already pled guilty, Gardner was in the middle of his trial when the Suggs told him to plead guilty.

The State argues that because Gardner’s attorneys advised him to plead guilty after Suggs’ statements ignores that the decision to plead guilty must be the defendant’s decision. The court in Kraus viewed his attorneys pressing the issue after the clerk’s statements as a further improper influence on Kraus’s right to decide for himself whether to plead guilty. Kraus at 457-58. The court said that “the clerk’s view was pressed forcefully upon him as a reason to accept the prosecutor’s proposal as the most favorable arrangement that the district court was likely to approve.” Id. at 457. “It is clear, however, that the clerk’s remark helped to convince Kraus to accept a sentence more than a year longer than he and his counsel were intending to propose.” Id. Here, as the PCR judge found, it was undisputed that Gardner would not have pled guilty but for Suggs’ improper influence.

Petitioner overstates the effect of the PCR court’s holding. Petitioner’s contention that Judge Cooper’s reasoning will “give rise to an overwhelming amount of new trials to any criminal defendant who discussed a guilty plea with someone other than their attorney and

outside of their attorney's presence" is simply inaccurate. Of course defendants voluntarily consult with friends and family members regarding how they should proceed when facing criminal charges, both inside and outside of the presence of their attorney. Gardner's plea was not rendered involuntary because he had a consensual discussion about a plea with a close personal friend or family member. Judge Cooper was careful to specify that this case is "unique" and that it was the content and setting of the meeting with Suggs that rendered his influence improper and the plea involuntary. App. 354. As the dearth of reported decisions indicates, clerks do not routinely make such mistakes.

The PCR court properly noted the unusual circumstances of this case, finding that even though Suggs interfered with good intentions, the discussion and setting in which it occurred were "quite influential" over Gardner and should not have occurred without Gardner's attorney present. App. 354. He concluded that Suggs' interference rendered the guilty plea involuntary. App. 354 – 355. While the PCR court reasoned that its decision was unaffected by the type of social relationship that existed between Suggs and Gardner or by Suggs' position as Clerk of Court, this Court had the discretion to consider Suggs' capacity as an elected member of the judicial branch and his conversations with the presiding trial judge regarding what sentence would be imposed following a trial. See Rule 220(c), SCACR; I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 417, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722 (2000) ("[I]n raising an additional sustaining ground in an appeal, the party who prevailed in the lower court urges an appellate court to affirm the lower court's ruling for a reason other than one primarily relied upon by the lower court."). Even if the PCR court's Order is lacking on this point, the evidence is perfectly clear and requires affirmance.

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